

LUND UNIVERSITY

Mechanisms for Targeting of Proteins to Secretory Lysosomes of Haematopoietic Cells

Rosén, Hanna

2006

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Rosén, H. (2006). *Mechanisms for Targeting of Proteins to Secretory Lysosomes of Haematopoietic Cells.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine]. Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Mechanisms for Targeting of Proteins to Secretory Lysosomes of Haematopoietic Cells

Doctoral Thesis

by

Hanna Rosén

Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine Lund University, Sweden



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

This thesis will be defended on May 24, 2006, at 13:00 in Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum, BMC, Sölvegatan17, Lund

Faculty opponent: Docent Birgitta Rasmusson Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences Linköping University, Sweden

Copyright © 2006 by Hanna Rosén and the respective publishers. ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 91-85481-94-7 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2006:69 Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund, Sweden 2006

7 ill min familj

"The truth is rarely pure. and never simple."

Oscar Wilde

CONTENTS

| Original papers | |
|---|----|
| Selected abbreviations | 3 |
| <u>Introduction</u> | 5 |
| Background | 7 |
| Haematopoiesis | 7 |
| The biogenesis of blood cells | 7 |
| Innate immunity | 8 |
| Innate immune recognition | 8 |
| Effector molecules and mediators | 9 |
| Cytotoxic T-cells and NK-cells | 10 |
| Macrophages and neutrophils | 11 |
| Neutrophil granules | 12 |
| Processing and sorting of neutrophil granule proteins | 13 |
| Mast cells | 15 |
| Inflammation | 16 |
| The inflammatory response | 16 |
| Tissue damage in inflammation | 16 |
| The tumour necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily | 18 |
| The secretory pathway and protein quality control | 20 |
| The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) | 22 |
| Protein quality control in the ER | 22 |

| Endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation (ERAD) | 23 |
|---|----|
| The Golgi complex | 24 |
| The trans-Golgi network (TGN) | 25 |
| Post-ER protein quality control | 25 |
| Secretion | 26 |
| Constitutive secretion | 26 |
| Regulated secretion | 27 |
| Secretory lysosomes | 27 |
| Composition and function | 27 |
| Targeting to secretory lysosomes | 29 |
| The von Willebrand factor (VWF) | 31 |
| Biosynthesis and function | 31 |
| Targeting of the von Willebrand factor | 32 |
| The present investigation | 34 |
| Aim | 34 |
| Specific aims | 34 |
| Experimental considerations | 35 |
| Cell models | 35 |
| Transfections | 36 |
| Biosynthetic radiolabelling and immunoprecipitation | 36 |
| Subcellular fractionation | 37 |
| Immunoelectron microscopy | 37 |
| Flowcytometry | 37 |

| General discussion and concluding remarks | 38 |
|---|----|
| - Does aggregation of proteins facilitate their sorting for storage | |
| in secretory lysosomes? | 38 |
| - Does protein sorting involving the plasma membrane require a | |
| native conformation? | 43 |
| - Is it possible to target exogenous proteins to the secretory | |
| lysosomes of haematopoietic cells? | 45 |
| - Could lack of targeting for storage be due to failure in post-ER | |
| protein quality controls? | 48 |
| Concluding remarks | 50 |
| Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish) | 51 |
| Upplagring av proteiner i vita blodkroppar | 51 |
| Acknowledgements | 54 |
| References | 57 |
| Appendix | 65 |

38

Immunofluorescence microscopy

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following publications and manuscripts, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Hanna Rosén, Ying Gao, Ellinor Johnsson and Inge Olsson. Artificially controlled aggregation of proteins and targeting in hematopoietic cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology 74(5):800-809, 2003.*
- Hanna Rosén, Linda Källquist and Inge Olsson.
 Neutrophil pro-elastase sorting involving the plasma membrane is conformation dependent.
 Manuscript.
- III. Hanna Rosén, Jero Calafat, Lars Holmberg and Inge Olsson. Sorting of Von Willebrand factor to lysosome-related granules of haematopoietic cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 315(3):671-678, 2004.
- IV. Ying Gao, Hanna Rosén, Ellinor Johnsson, Jero Calafat, Hans Tapper and Inge Olsson.
 Sorting of soluble TNF-receptor for granule storage in hematopoietic cells as a principle for targeting of selected proteins to inflamed sites.
 Blood, 102(2):682-688, 2003.

Paper I is reprinted with the permission of the Society for Leukocyte Biology.

Paper **III** is reprinted from *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, Vol.* 315, Hanna Rosén, Jero Calafat, Lars Holmberg and Inge Olsson, Sorting of Von Willebrand factor to lysosome-related granules of haematopoietic cells, Pages no. 671-678, Copyright (2004), with permission from Elsevier.

Paper IV was originally published in *Blood.* Gao Y, Rosén H, Johnsson E, Calafat J, Tapper H and Olsson I. Sorting of soluble TNF-receptor for granule storage in hematopoietic cells as a principle for targeting of selected proteins to inflamed sites. Blood. 2003;102:682-8. © the American Society of Hematology.

Selected abbreviations

| AP-2 and 3 | adaptor proteins 2 and 3 |
|--------------------|---|
| CD63 / LAMP-3 | cluster of differentiation 63 / lysosome-associated |
| | membrane protein-3 |
| cDNA | complementary deoxyribonucleic acid |
| COP I and II | coatomer proteins I and II |
| CTL | cytotoxic T-lymphocyte |
| egfp | enhanced green fluorescent protein |
| ELA | elastase |
| Endo-H | endoglycosidase $H = Endo-\beta-N-acetylglucos-$ |
| | aminidase H |
| ERAD | endoplasmatic reticulum associated degradation |
| ERGIC | endoplasmatic reticulum-Golgi intermediate |
| | compartment |
| ER | endoplasmic reticulum |
| FCS | furin cleavage site |
| FKBP | FK506 binding protein |
| hGH | human growth hormone |
| Ig | immunoglobulin |
| IL | interleukin |
| IP | immunoprecipitation |
| kDa | kilodalton |
| LAMP-1 and 2 | lysosome-associated membrane proteins 1 and 2 |
| lgp 120 | lysosomal glycoprotein 120 |
| LPS | lipopolysaccharide |
| MHC class I and II | major histocompatibility complex class I and II |
| MPO | myeloperoxidase |

| MPR | mannose 6-phosphate receptor |
|-------------|---|
| NK-cell | natural killer cell |
| N-glycanase | N -glycosidase F = Endo- β -N-glucosaminidase F |
| N-linked | asparagine-linked |
| PCR | polymerase chain reaction |
| РКС | protein kinase C |
| РМА | phorbol myristate acetate |
| RBL | rat basophilic leukemia/ mast cell tumour line |
| RMCP-II | rat mast cell protease II |
| RNA | ribonucleic acid |
| SDS-PAGE | sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel |
| | electrophoresis |
| sTNFR | soluble tumour necrosis factor receptor |
| TGN | trans-Golgi network |
| TLRs | toll like receptors |
| 32D | murine myeloid 32D cell line |
| VWF | von Willebrand factor |

Introduction

The cells of the innate immune system are essential for the host's first line defence against infection. The immune cells derive from the bone marrow, where they are developed from haematopoietic stem cells. The mature cells circulate in the blood until recruitment by chemotactic agents to a site of infection. Here, they transmigrate into the tissues and become activated by unspecific receptor binding to pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Their mission is then to kill the microorganisms, which may be done through several mechanisms.

In the case of the neutrophil, which is one of the major constituents of the innate immune system, and the white blood cell in focus in this work, one way to exert anti-microbial activity includes the production and release of antibiotic proteins and peptides. These serve as mediators in the inflammatory reactions.

Newly synthesized anti-microbial proteins and peptides are transported through the secretory pathway of the cell, where they are modified in a number of ways to finally obtain a native conformation required for its functionality. To avoid intracellular accumulation of proteins with nonnative conformations, a protein quality control targets unfolded or misfolded proteins for intracellular degradation. Completely folded antimicrobial proteins are targeted for storage in secretory lysosomes and other granules of haematopoietic cells and released in the inflammatory process by regulated secretion.

However, the neutrophil granule contents are very potent agents, which may cause damage to the surrounding tissues upon extracellular release in an inflammatory response. Thus, even though the inflammatory response is crucial in an individual's defence against infections, its actions may also confer negative effects. Rapid resolution of the acute inflammation upon completion of its task is of significant importance, since persistent inflammation may lead to severe tissue damage and organ failure.

Basic knowledge about biosynthesis, targeting and secretion of the neutrophil granule proteins is important for the understanding of the role of these immune cells in the emerge of inflammatory diseases. Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to increase the knowledge about mechanisms underlying targeting of proteins to secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells.

Background

Haematopoiesis

The biogenesis of blood cells

The cells of the blood originate from pluripotent haematopoietic stem cells residing in the bone marrow of adult individuals. Stem cells have a capability of self-renewal, which allows them to maintain haematopoiesis throughout the lifetime of the host. During haematopoietic differentiation, the stem cells divide and generate more differentiated daughter cells, whose genetic program become fixed towards a single lineage and the pluripotency is then gradually lost during the differentiation process. The classical model for haematopoietic differentiation involves the restricted ability to generate myeloid versus lymphoid progenitor cells and lead to the generation of cells called common myeloid progenitors and common lymphoid progenitors. The myeloid progenitors do after further differentiation give rise to mature myeloid cells as granulocytes, monocytes, erythrocytes and megakaryocytes. The lymphoid progenitors differentiate into mature lymphocytes, including B- and T-cells [1]. However, recent studies in mice have provoked a debate about the common precursor cells and alternative or complementary models of the haematopoietic differentiation have evolved [2, 3]. The process of haematopoietic differentiation is subject to intrinsic regulation by transcription factors and extrinsic regulation by locally produced cytokines [1].

Innate immunity

The innate immune system [4], in contrast to the adaptive immune system involving specific T- and B-lymphocyte effector mechanisms [5], confers rapid non-specific responses to infection and does not differ between different individuals. This first line of defence against microorganism invasion involves the epithelial cells of the skin and mucosal tissue as a mechanical barrier, as well as effector cells such as cytotoxic T-cells, NK-cells, macrophages and neutrophils [6]. The proteins of the complement system [7], is also an important component contributing to phagocyte recruitment, microbial opsonization and bacteriolysis [6].

Innate immune recognition

The recognition of pathogens by the cells of the innate immune system is not based on binding to specific antigens, but to structurally conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns. The receptors that bind to these structures belong to a family of transmembrane proteins showing high homology to the Drosophila receptor Toll, and are therefore termed Toll like receptors (TLRs) [6, 8]. There are at least ten members of this family (TLRs 1-10) in humans and mice and they are differently expressed among the immune cells, but have also been observed on vascular endothelial cells, cardiac myocytes, intestinal endothelial cells and adipocytes. The TLRs on the immune effector cells have been reported to respond to different stimuli and together they recognize a wide range of microbial ligands, including cell-wall components of yeast and mycobacteria, CpG dinucleotide motifs in bacterial DNA, the glycolipid LPS in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, bacterial lipoproteins and cell-wall peptidoglycans, lipoteichoic acids of Grampositive bacteria and viral RNA. [4, 6, 8]. The TLR signalling pathways

leading to activation of different transcription factors, may be dependent or independent of an adaptor molecule [4, 8]. In addition to the TLRs, antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages and dendritic cells, also selectively express the type 3 complement receptor (CR3), scavenger receptors, a β -glucan receptor (Dectin-1), the mannose receptor and other C type lectins, that are capable of pattern recognition of exogenous as well as endogenous ligands. [9].

Effector molecules and mediators

An important component of the innate immune system consists of the antimicrobial peptides. These are relatively small (<10 kDa) endogenous cationic and amphipathic peptides. They are constitutively expressed (or in a few cases induced), and have been broadly classified into several groups, based on properties such as secondary and tertiary structure, length and absence or presence of disulfide bridges. These peptides make a very important contribution to the natural defences of most living organisms in that they posses virucidal, bactericidal, fungicidal as well as tumouricidal properties, and thereby exhibit a broad-spectrum activity against a wide range of pathogens. The mechanisms used by antimicrobial peptides have been shown to include disruption of the cell membrane, activation of autolysis of bacteria, inhibition of protein synthesis, activation of essential protein degradation, ion channel formation and interference with transport and energy metabolism [10]. Lysozyme and cathelicidin released by neutrophils and epithelial cells [11], as well as the β -defensins [12] of epithelial cells, are examples of important antimicrobial peptides. Some β -defensins as well as cathelicidin have been shown to, in addition to their antimicrobial action, also function as chemoattractants for certain immune cells like

monocytes, neutrophils, T-lymphocytes, memory T-cells and immature dendritic cells [6].

Another group of molecules, acting as mediators in the inflammatory response, is the cytokines [13]. These soluble polypeptide or glycoprotein mediators are active as a part of a complex network involved in the regulation of the immune and inflammatory responses. Important collaborators for the cytokines are the chemokines [13-15], a specialized group of small polypeptides that are able to induce directed cell migration in a variety of cells. Both cytokines and chemokines act by binding and signalling through specific receptors present on most cell types of the immune system, as well as on a large number of other host cell types [6, 13].

Cytotoxic T-cells and NK-cells

Cytotoxic T-cells (CTLs) and Natural Killer cells (NK-cells) are cytolytic cells of the lymphoid lineage that play an important role in the host's acute phase defence against pathogens, before the development of adaptive immune responses. The T-cell receptors of CTLs recognize viral peptides exposed on MHC class I molecules on virus-infected cells, whereas the NK-cells are activated in an antigen-independent manner by reduced levels or absence of MHC class I on virus-infected or malignant tumour cells [16].

Both CTLs and NK-cells kill their targets by means of granule- and FASmediated pathways, which induce apoptosis in the target cell [17, 18]. Both cytolytic cell types have granules containing various proteins that are known to be involved in the triggering of the target cell death program. Included here are the pore-forming protein perforin and the granzyme family of serine proteases. CTLs also produce and secrete cytokines such as tumour-necrosis factor (TNF) and interferon- γ (IFN- γ), having cytotoxic action on target cells when delivered in the vicinity [16]. IFN- γ , which is released also by activated NK-cells, does also have a limiting effect on tumour angiogenesis and promotes the development of specific immune responses [19].

Macrophages and neutrophils

Macrophages and neutrophils are cells of the myeloid lineage that play a major part as critical phagocytotic effector cells in the innate immune system. Interactions between specific receptors on these cells with ligands on microorganisms lead to internalization of the pathogen into a phagosome. The phagosome will then mature by a series of fusion and fission events with components of the endocytic pathway, culminating in the formation of the mature phagolysosome. Here, the pathogen is killed by oxidative burst reactions, proteases and lysosomal hydrolases, and pathogen-derived peptides are generated for presentation to T-cells on MHC class II molecules on the cell surface [20-22]. The macrophages do also play an important role in the clearance of apoptotic cells in the resolution of an inflammatory response [23].

The neutrophils circulate in the bloodstream and interact transiently with endothelial cell molecules, called selectins, in a rolling-and-release tumbleweed-like motion. At a site of infection, the chemoattractant gradient originating in the peripheral tissue activates neutrophil responses, resulting in tight adhesion to endothelium through proteins of the β_2 -integrin family [24], as well as to the extracellular matrix [25]. To arrive at the extravascular site of infection, the neutrophil then transmigrate between [26], or directly through [27], the endothelial cells in a process called diapedesis. The invading pathogenic microorganisms are then phagocytosed and killed [25]. The neutrophil kills pathogens in mainly two ways; oxidative killing by the NADPH oxidase system, generating O_2^- , which is converted to the bactericidal oxidant hypochlorous acid (HOCl) by myeloperoxidase (MPO) [28], and nonoxidative killing by granule proteins [25].

Neutrophil granules

Neutrophil granules are developed sequentially during the maturation process of the neutrophil. The different types of granules differ in size, density, protein content and tendency for extracellular secretion, reflecting the stage of myeloid differentiation at which they are formed (Figure 1). The earliest granules appear at the promyelocyte stage and are called primary or azurophilic granules and are lysosome-like. They store serine proteases, myeloperoxidase (MPO) [29], antibiotic peptides and lysosomal enzymes in functionally active forms. Later, specific and gelatinase granules appear, which store metalloproteases and antibiotic peptides as inactive forms. The inactive proteins are activated only after the degranulation when the content from the different granules are mixed in the extracellular space or in the phagocytic vacuole. At maturity, highly mobilizable secretory vesicles are also manufactured. Stimulation of the neutrophil will lead to extracellular granule secretion in the following order: secretory, gelatinase, specific, and azurophilic. Specific and azurophilic granules are most likely to fuse with the phagocytic vacuole [30, 31].



Figure 1. Characteristic neutrophil granule contents at the different stages of granulopoietic differentiation.

Processing and sorting of neutrophil granule proteins

The fact that each granule protein is packaged in its appropriate granule leads to sequential mobilization of the different granule proteins as well as separation of proteins that cannot coexist. The joint accumulation of an array of proteins in the same granule subset requires joint expression. This implies that successive expression of genes encoding granule proteins, governed by stage- and tissue-specific transcription factors, ensures that granule proteins synthesized at the same time during the neutrophil maturation process will localize to the same granules. This timing leads to joint storage of gene products in granules [30, 32].

However, the structural requirements for a neutrophil granule protein to be sorted for storage instead of secreted through the non-regulated pathway, is not fully understood.

Studies of processing of the serine proteases elastase, cathepsin G and proteinase 3, suggest a similar processing of these proteins, including removal of an amino-terminal and a carboxy-terminal propeptide. The cleavage of the propeptides was implied to take place in pre-granule and granule structures [33]. Therefore, studies involving deletions and mutations of the propeptides were performed. However, the removal of the propeptides of these proteins did not interfere with the targeting for storage in azurophil granules [34, 35]. This was strengthened by results from investigations of the non-catalytic serine protease azurocidin [36]. The role of glycosylation in targeting of cathepsin G was also investigated by mutations in the cDNA in order to prevent the addition of oligosaccharides. No effect on the targeting could be observed, excluding the mannose 6-phosphate receptor from being involved in the targeting to granules [37]. Taken together, the results from these studies suggest that neither glycosylation nor final processing is a prerequisite for sorting for storage of neutrophil serine proteases in granules [35].

Moreover, metalloproteases are targeted and stored as proforms in specific granules, and are subjected to propeptide cleavage and activation first after degranulation. Also, in addition to the unprocessed forms of the serine proteases, mature forms have been observed to be targeted to the azurophil granules, suggesting that both an immature and a mature conformation is compatible with targeting for storage in granules [34, 36].

Structural features may however be required for targeting of some proteins. Upon deletion of the amino-terminal propeptide of myeloperoxidase (MPO), the normal processing was blocked and targeting was inhibited [38]. Therefore, it can be concluded that different properties may be required for individual proteins and that the neutrophil granule proteins may not be targeted in an identical manner [33].

The azurophil granules are lysosome-like in that they, in addition to the anti-bacterial proteins and peptides, store acid hydrolases and contain the membrane protein CD63 [39]. They are therefore considered to correspond to the dual-function organelle termed the secretory lysosome, which is found in many cells of the immune system [40]. Secretory lysosomes and mechanisms for protein targeting to this organelle is covered on **pages 27-30** in this thesis.

Mast cells

The mast cell, which belongs to the myeloid lineage and is associated with blood vessels throughout the body, has been well studied as an effector cell in IgE-dependent allergic reactions [41, 42]. However, the mast cell also plays a critical role in innate immune responses, where it contributes to the early host defence by several mechanisms. The activation of a mast cell, via crosslinking of cell surface IgE-receptors, induced by pathogens, their products, or other mediators associated with tissue damage, leads to rapid release of potential preformed or newly generated mediators effecting the vasculature. The release of molecules such as TNF [9] and histamine [43] leads to upregulation of adhesion molecules, and enhancement of vascular permeability. These effects on the vasculature, as well as secreted mast cell proteases, are critical in the chemotactic recruitment of neutrophils and other effector cells to a site of infection. In addition, the mast cells produce a variety of chemotactic lipid mediators and chemokines that are important as key stimulators for cell migration out of the vasculature. Mast cell activation during infection is dependent on complement-mediated signals as well as interactions with selected TLRs and other receptor systems [44].

Inflammation

The inflammatory response

The inflammatory response, initiated by the innate immune system, is a defence mechanism aiming to fight invading infectious agents. The acute inflammation is characterized by the rapid recruitment of effector cells and by the massive release of effector molecules and inflammatory mediators such as antimicrobial peptides, cytokines and chemokines [6]. Thus, the inflammatory process comprises a complex network of exogenous and endogenous mediators, interacting as stimulators or inhibitors to enhance the operation [15]. The process of an inflammatory response is also initiated in case of tissue damage, where it is crucial for the elimination of potentially harmful agents that may cause *septicemia* [45].

Tissue damage in inflammation

Even though the inflammatory response is an indispensable part of an individuals' defence against infections, its actions may also confer negative effects on the tissues of the host.

Neutrophils, which constitute a considerable part of the inflammation process, have been reported to cause tissue damage by extracellular release of destructive granule constituents and oxygen metabolites during phagosome formation. These toxic molecules, which cannot discriminate between invading microorganisms and host tissue structures, may also be released extracellularly upon encounter with immunocomplex- or antibody-coated particles too large to engulf. Moreover, the activated neutrophil produces hypochlorous acid, which can cause cell dysfunction and necrosis by ATP depletion, and inactivates the specific inhibitor of neutrophil elastase, α -1-antitrypsin, leading to uncontrolled proteolytic activity of elastase [46].

In addition, the onset of inflammation has been reported to interfere with the wound healing process, comprising unbeneficial effects like slowing of the repair and induction of excessive fibrosis [45].

Thus, once the task of microbial killing is completed, rapid resolution of the acute inflammation is of significant importance, since persistent inflammation may lead to severe tissue damage and organ failure. Successful termination of an inflammatory response involves the release of anti-inflammatory and reparative cytokines, programmed leukocyte death by apoptosis and clearance of the dead cells by phagocytes. The latter do subsequently leave the site of inflammation through the lymphatics. This highly coordinated "resolution program" has been suggested to be initiated by events occurring already during the first few hours of an acute inflammatory response [23].

There is a broad range of disorders caused by an "over-active" immune system. Failure in the mechanisms regulating the clearance of inflammation, and components of genetic prevalence are factors that may contribute to the development of chronic inflammatory diseases as well as autoimmune diseases.

The tumour necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily

Cytokines of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily play a major role as pro-inflammatory mediators. The soluble and/or membrane-bound TNF ligands interact with one or more specific membrane bound or soluble receptor of the TNF receptor superfamily, of which the majority are expressed by immune cells [47].

Figure 2 shows generation of soluble TNF receptor by proteolytic cleavage of the extracellular part of the TNF receptor at the cell surface. The receptor processing has been demonstrated to involve both serine proteases and metalloproteases [48].

TNF ligand interactions with transmembrane TNF receptors (Figure 2) leads to formation of receptor trimer and activation of multiple signal transduction pathways [49], which may trigger intracellular processes affecting the homeostasis of the immune system. This includes processes such as cell proliferation, survival, differentiation and apoptosis. These activities are beneficial for the host in inflammation and protective immune responses in infectious diseases, and also play important roles in secondary lymphoid organogenesis [47].

However, TNF is also one of the most prominent mediators in the induction of inflammatory responses of the innate immune system. It activates processes including cytokine production, expression and activation of adhesion molecules and stimulates growth. These are processes that need to be carefully controlled in order to avoid tissue damage [47]. The activity of TNF has been shown to cause host damaging effects in disorders like fever syndromes, *sepsis*, and in autoimmune diseases like *inflammatory bowel disease* and *rheumatoid arthritis* [47, 50].

Blockade of the superfamily member $\text{TNF}\alpha$, in order to neutralize its activation (Figure 2), has proven to be very successful as a therapeutic approach in the treatment of several immune-mediated inflammatory diseases [51].

The drugs used in the clinical practice in order to block TNF α are biological protein-based drugs, consisting of either monoclonal anti-TNF α antibodies or modified high affinity TNF α receptors. TNF receptor dimers that have been linked to the Fc portion of IgG, have been demonstrated to be effective inhibitors of the trimeric TNF α . Also chimerized monoclonal antibodies of high affinity have been proven efficient to block TNF α . Thus, these therapeutic molecules act as physiological inhibitors but are engineered as pharmaceutical inhibitors to increase their efficacy [52].

However, TNF α blockade does not provide a permanent cure, and may need combinatorial therapies [50]. Moreover, systemic release of TNF activity blocking agents is associated with an increased risk to develop opportunistic infections including reactivation of tuberculosis [53].

Therefore, local inhibition of TNF would provide a mean to overcome systemic side effects. The use of haematopoietic cells as vehicles for delivery of an anti-TNF α agent, e.g. a soluble TNF receptor, to inflamed sites might be a concept for future anti-inflammatory therapy [54].



Figure 2. Schematic picture of TNF α receptor activation and soluble TNF α receptor formation. Trimeric TNF α binding to TNF α receptor induces receptor trimer formation and signal transduction. The extracellular domain of the TNF α receptor can be released by proteolytic cleavage to generate soluble TNF α receptor. The soluble receptor can bind and inactivate the TNF α molecules.

The secretory pathway and protein quality control

The transport route used by newly synthesized proteins to reach the cell membrane or the extracellular space is termed the secretory pathway [55]. For cargo transport into the cell, termed endocytosis [56], which may include internalization of plasma membrane receptors, pinocytosis or phagocytosis, the cell uses the endocytic pathway. In addition to cargo transport, endocytic compartments have been reported to participate in the sorting of proteins in the biosynthetic route of polarized cells, suggesting a linkage, at various points, of these two transport routes [57].

The typical secretory and endosomal pathways of a non-polarized cell are depicted in **Figure 3**.



Figure 3. Schematic picture of a typical secretory cell, showing the secretory and endocytic pathways. Proteins destined for regulated secretion are packaged into an immature granule, which eventually form a mature granule. After fusion with the plasma membrane, soluble proteins are secreted to the extracellular space and membrane proteins are retained in the plasma membrane. Proteins destined for the plasma membrane or the extracellular space, lacking signals for retention or sorting, are delivered to the plasma membrane by constitutive secretion. Proteins at the plasma membrane destined for degradation are internalized by the formation of a clathrin-coated pit, which becomes a clathrin-coated vesicle delivering its content into an early endosome, which matures into a late endosome. When the late endosome has matured into a lysosome, by regulated fusion events, the content will be subject to lysosomal degradation.

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER)

The large organelle termed the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is considered to be the entrance into the secretory pathway. Here, secretory proteins are synthesized on membrane bound ribosomes and translocated in an unfolded state into the ER lumen via an aqueous channel termed the Sec61 translocon [58]. The proteins are then subjected to posttranslational modifications such as folding and maturation processes. These processes are tightly controlled by proofreading systems. The complete protein must typically have reached a correctly folded conformation, which corresponds to the most energetically favourable state and is generally called the "native" conformation [59].

As a part of the modification process, N-linked oligosaccharides are added cotranslationally to the growing nascent polypeptides. These firstly added "core glycans" are relatively simple and homogenous and play common roles in promoting protein folding, quality control as well as some sorting events. As the glycoproteins move through the ER, the glycans are subjected to trimming by glycosidases and mannosidases. When the folded protein reach the Golgi complex, the glycan chains undergo further trimming and terminal glycosylation, leading to the formation of mature glycoproteins with complex N-linked glycans [60, 61].

Protein quality control in the ER

In order to obtain its final conformation, the protein interacts with a number of ER-resident molecular chaperones and folding enzymes [62], which assist the folding process. However, these chaperones do also have the ability to distinguish between properly and incompletely folded proteins and dispatching incorrectly folded proteins for destruction. Together with other "conformation-sensor molecules", selectively

"tagging" misfolded proteins, the chaperones constitute the final checkpoints of the proof-reading system called quality control. Primary protein quality control is a retention-based system, which distinguishes between native and non-native protein conformations on the basis of the exposure of hydrophobic regions, unpaired cysteine residues and the tendency to aggregate. BiP [63], calnexin and calreticulin [64] are some important proteins involved in this process. Secondary protein quality control is often cell type specific mechanisms involved in the regulation of ER retention and export [59]. Properly folded and modified proteins that pass the quality controls are allowed to exit the ER and enter the secretory pathway via specific ER exit sites. These consist of small membrane clusters or buds coated with the coatomer protein II (COPII) coat [59, 65].

Endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation (ERAD)

The concentration of unfolded proteins in the ER is sensed by an unfolded protein response system. When the level of unfolded or misfolded proteins rises above a certain level this system induces a signalling cascade, which leads to an upregulated expression of proteins required for protein folding and quality control. The system is also tightly connected to the endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation (ERAD) system, where proteins that fail are retro-translocated from the ER to the cytosol, a process involving polyubiquitinylation by the cytoplasmic ubiquitinylation machinery [66, 67]. Proteins tagged with ubiquitin are subsequently targeted to the cytosolic proteolytic enzyme complex termed the 26S proteasome [68], for degradation. The polyubiquitin chain is then hydrolyzed into single ubiquitin and recycled for participation in a new protein degradation process. The protein quality control and the ERAD system is necessary for the maintenance of a healthy cellular metabolism and life in many different organisms [66]. Recent findings indicate that the substrates for ERAD do not exclusively consist of misfolded proteins. The ERAD system may also be involved in the regulated turnover of ER-resident enzymes and used by human pathogenic viruses. Thus, the ERAD system might be considered as an important mechanism affecting cell physiology in many different aspects such as protein folding and transport, metabolic regulation, immune response and the ubiquitin-proteasome system dependent degradation [69].

The Golgi complex

The Golgi complex, which is considered to be the central station along the secretory pathway, consists of flattened membranous compartments with dilated rims, termed cisternae. These biochemically distinct compartments are organised in the form of a stack comprising the *cis*, medial and trans cisternae, which are interconnected by tubular networks. The number of cisternae (three to eight are most common) varies between different cell types. In the Golgi compartments, newly synthesized proteins and lipids, received from the ER, are subjected to posttranslational modifications distribution prior to to the endosomal/lysosomal system and to the plasma membrane [70]. Importantly, the glycan chains added to the glycoproteins in the ER, undergo further trimming of mannoses. In many cases complex N-linked glycans are produced by the addition of new sugars in order to create structural diversification and give the mature proteins novel functions, displayed by the different sugars. The different post-translational modifications are carried out by membrane-bound Golgi-resident proteins, such as glycosyltransferases, glycosidases, lectins, permeases, transport receptors and proteolytic enzymes [60].

The maintenance of the Golgi subcompartmentalized structure and the transport of cargo molecules between the different cisternae is subject in an ongoing debate. It is not known, whether the anterograde traffic (the forward transport of cargo) through the Golgi complex is mediated by vesicles/tubules, or the process of cisternal progression/maturation. The different models are however not mutually exclusive and both vesicle-, tubule-, and cisternal-mediated cargo transport could be important in anterograde traffic through the Golgi complex [71, 72].

The trans-Golgi network (TGN)

The *trans*-most cisternae of the Golgi stack, is associated with a tubularreticular structure termed the *trans*-Golgi network (TGN), which is the exit pole of the complex. Here, terminal glycosylation as well as cleavage of protein precursors into their mature forms by pro-protein convertases (like furin [73]) takes place. The transport proteins are then packaged into membrane carriers and directed to their final cellular destinations, like the plasma membrane or the endosomal/lysosomal system [70].

Post-ER protein quality control

Although the protein quality control in the ER and the ERAD system seem to be efficient in protecting the cell from accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins, there might be some escape from these processes. Certain cases of retrieval of misfolded proteins from the Golgi complex to the ER have actually been reported [74-76]. This protein retrieval pathway may, in some cases, be required for an efficient ERAD system, or act as a "back-up system" in case the ER retention capacity for a protein should be saturated. Resident chaperones and folding enzymes are not found in the mammalian Golgi complex, indicating a lack of protein folding capacity in this organelle. However, some enzymes involved in
the protein folding machinery in the ER are also found in the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) [77] indicating the possibility of some glycoprotein folding to be localized to this compartment [59].

Most of the reported protein quality control events in mammalian cells occur in the ER. However, several studies in yeast cells have suggested protein quality control to also take place in post-ER compartments [78] such as the Golgi complex [79, 80].

Secretion

Constitutive secretion

The secretory pathway of eukaryotic cells comprises a series of distinct steps for anterograde (forward) transport of proteins between the membrane compartments along this route. Some retrograde (backward) transport is however also involved in order to maintain a steady state composition of certain proteins. The transport from the TGN to the plasma membrane is the last step for many of the secreted proteins. Proteins destined for the plasma membrane or the extracellular space, lacking sorting- or retention-signals for granule storage, are delivered to the plasma membrane by constitutive secretion. This secretory route does not require any specific stimulus, and is therefore also termed the "default secretory pathway". It exists in all eukaryotic cells and is responsible for the arrival of critical proteins at the plasma membrane. These are proteins involved in the cell's interaction with the environment and regulate processes like the uptake of nutrients needed for cell growth and survival. This delivery does however need regulatory mechanisms to ensure that the appearance of specific proteins at the cell surface is coupled to intracellular signalling, cellular differentiation, organ development and cell growth [81].

Regulated secretion

Professional secretory cells, like endocrine and neuroendocrine cells, and specialized haematopoietic cells are, in addition to constitutive secretion, also capable of regulated secretion. These cells have mechanisms for protein retrieval and storage of secretory proteins in storage compartments, such as the neutrophil granules [32], and secretory lysosomes [40]. The stored proteins may then, upon cell stimulation, be released to the cell exterior or into a forming phagolysosome [32].

The exocytotic machinery of cells possessing secretory lysosomes have been suggested to differ in some aspects from the general regulated secretory mechanisms [82]. In the case of neutrophils, they posses several types of granules, which differ in their response to elevation of intracellular Ca^{2+} levels, i.e. their tendency for secretion. Moreover, the exocytotic machinery of neutrophils seems to, in addition to Ca^{2+} dependent mechanisms, be controlled by regulatory steps initiated by binding of a cell surface receptor [83].

Secretory lysosomes

Composition and function

Secretory lysosomes are found in many different cell types of the immune system as well as in other cell types, such as melanocytes, osteoclasts and renal tubular cells [40]. This organelle serves as the endpoint of the endocytic pathway where extracellular particles and proteins are degraded by proteases and lipases, but it is also a secretory organelle.

Secretory lysosomes can therefore be described as modified lysosomes that, in addition to lysosomal hydrolases required for protein degradation, also contain specialized secretory proteins. Unlike conventional lysosomes [84], they are able to undergo regulated secretion and release the stored specialized secretory proteins in response to external stimuli. The pH is important in the control of the dual function of this organelle. An acidic pH is required for the function of the lysosomal hydrolases, whereas the secretory proteins function at neutral pH after secretion [85]. Morphologically, conventional and secretory lysosomes can appear similar, although secretory lysosomes may have diverse types of structures, including both electron dense cores and multivesicular regions. Both organelles have the resident membrane proteins CD63 [86] and the lysosomal-associated membrane proteins LAMP-1 and LAMP-2 [87], as well as the receptors involved in the recognition and delivery of both cytosolic and membrane bound material to the lysosome [40]. Secretory lysosomes/azurophil granules of neutrophils lack LAMP-1 and -2 [88], but contain CD63 [39].

Secretory lysosomes move back and forth along microtubules by means of kinesin- and dynein-based motors. Lysosomal secretion generally occurs at the plasma membrane where the membrane fusion event is mediated by specific proteins. Several proteins from the SNARE family [89], regulated by proteins including small GTPases from the Rab family [90], have been shown to be involved in the fusion machinery. Rab27a has been suggested to play a crucial role in the detachment of secretory lysosomes from the microtubules. However, the proteins involved in the secretion machinery may vary between different cell types, according to the requirements for lysosome delivery and the way in which secretion occurs. Mutations in genes encoding proteins involved in the function of secretory lysosomes may lead to deficiencies as the *Chediak-Higashi* *syndrome* [91], the *Griscelli syndrome* [92, 93] and the *Hermansky-Pudlak* syndrome [94, 95], characterized by immunodeficiency and hypopigmentation [40, 85].

Targeting to secretory lysosomes

Proteins in the TGN that are destined for the secretory lysosomes are targeted by different mechanisms (Figure 4). In the TGN, the lysosomal hydrolases, like some other transmembrane proteins, are subjected to oligosaccharide chain modifications involving the addition of mannose 6-phosphate (M6P) groups, allowing them to be recognized by transmembrane mannose 6-phospate receptors (MPRs). The MPR-lysosomal complexes are then transported from the TGN to endosomal compartments, where the MPRs dissociate and return to the TGN, and the lysosomal hydrolases are delivered to the lysosomes [96, 97].

Recognition of sorting signals, contained in the cytoplasmic domain of cargo molecules, by vesicle coat proteins is of importance for correct protein sorting. Vesicle coat proteins, like clathrin [98] and adaptor molecules (APs) [99] have been demonstrated to be involved in the formation of transport vesicles. Clathrin/AP-1 coated vesicles have been suggested to be responsible for the sorting of lysosomal hydrolases, whereas clathrin/AP-2 coated vesicles have been demonstrated to mediate clathrin-dependent endocytosis at the plasma membrane. Direct transport of some lysosomal proteins from the TGN to the lysosomes, is suggested to be mediated by AP-3 [97].

The recruitment of adaptor complexes to the cargo molecules is dependent of the recognition of conserved amino acid sequences that constitute specific sorting-motifs. Two well-characterized classes of sorting signals, involved in endosomal targeting and internalization from the plasma membrane, are the tyrosine-based and the dileucine-based sorting motifs [97, 100].

With the exception of the serine proteases granzyme A and granzyme B, found in lytic granules of CTLs and NK-cells, which are targeted by the MPR system [101], the mechanisms for targeting of soluble proteins to secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells are not known.



Figure 4. Schematic picture of protein targeting to secretory lysosomes in the trans-Golgi-network. Lysosomal hydrolases bind to the mannose 6-phosphate receptor (MPR) and are targeted to the secretory lysosome via the endosomal system. Other transmembrane proteins, like CD63 and the lysosomal-associated membrane proteins (LAMPs), have sorting signals in their cytoplasmic domains that are recognized by coat proteins involved in the formation of transport vesicles. Proteins lacking retention- or sorting-signals are secreted by constitutive secretion. The targeting mechanisms for luminal granule proteins are largely unknown.

The von Willebrand factor (VWF)

The fact that the von Willebrand factor (VWF) is a spontaneously aggregating protein that is normally targeted for storage with subsequent release by regulated secretion, makes it suitable for studies on the effect of protein multimerization on targeting for storage.

In addition, VWF has been expressed in a number of cells other than endothelial cells and megakaryocytes [102-107], and has been observed to form storage granules also in heterologous cells [107].

Biosynthesis and function

The VWF is a multifunctional plasma protein, synthesized by endothelial cells and megakaryocytes, that plays a critical role in the normal process of blood coagulation. After signal peptide cleavage and glycosylation in the ER, the pro-protein dimerizes prior to transport to the Golgi complex, where post-translational modifications, including the generation of complex sugars and further glycosylation, takes place. Simultaneously, the pro-VWF dimers polymerize into multimers that are subsequently transported to the TGN, where endoproteolytic cleavage of the propeptide and further multimerization occur. These processes yield mature VWF multimers and VWF propeptide dimers [108], which remain noncovalently associated, at least intracellularly [109]. However, mature VWF and the VWF propeptide have been reported to have distinct biological functions. Mature VWF is involved in the adhesion and aggregation of blood platelets at sites of vascular injury and functions as a chaperone protein for coagulation factor VIII. The VWF propeptide has been suggested to be involved as an inflammatory mediator [108].

Abnormality or deficiency of the VWF, usually caused by mutations within the VWF gene, leads to bleeding disorders, as seen in the autosomal inherited *von Willebrand's disease* [110].

Targeting of the von Willebrand factor

The VWF differs from many other endothelial proteins in that it can be secreted from the cell by both constitutive and regulated secretion [108]. However, only incompletely polymerized and processed, i.e. functionally incompetent protein, is secreted by the constitutive pathway [111]. The mature functional multimeric VWF released by regulated secretion is stored, together with its propeptide, in endothelial cell-specific elongated rod-shaped organelles termed Weibel-Palade bodies [112], or in round-shaped alpha-granules of megakaryocytes [113].

VWF expression has been shown to be necessary but not sufficient for the formation of Weibel-Palade bodies, in which the VWF multimers become densely packaged in several longitudinal arranged tubules. These structures are surrounded by a limiting membrane, containing the leukocyte receptor P-selectin and, like secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells, the membrane protein CD63 [114]. In addition to mature VWF and the VWF propeptide, the Weibel-Palade bodies contain endothelin, important in vasoconstriction, and the cytokine IL-8 [108].

The Weibel-Palade bodies are, like secretory lysosomes, able to undergo regulated secretion upon cell stimulation. Thrombin, formed locally at sites of vascular damage, histamine and epinephrine are some agents that have been shown to trigger the mechanism of Weibel-Palade body exocytosis in endothelial cells. The exocytosis mechanism has been suggested to involve Ca²⁺-rising agents and cAMP pathway activating agents, possibly acting in synergy [108, 114].

The multimerization of VWF, which is dependent on a functional VWF propeptide [104, 115], has been suggested to be important for the formation of Weibel-Palade bodies. However, VWF multimerization alone has been demonstrated to be insufficient for the formation of storage granules [114]. Instead, an intact propeptide, functioning as an intracellular chaperone possibly containing sorting signal(s), and its non-covalent association with the VWF, has been shown to be important for VWF targeting, suggesting VWF multimerization and storage to be two independent processes [116, 117].

The present investigation

Aim

The general objective of my work has been to increase the knowledge about mechanisms underlying targeting of proteins to secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells.

Specific aims

I. To determine whether ligand-induced aggregation would affect targeting to secretory lysosomes.

Specific question: Does aggregation of proteins in the Golgi complex facilitate their sorting for storage in secretory lysosomes?

II. To determine whether soluble monomeric and oligomeric non-native proteins can be targeted to the cell surface and become internalized or not.

Specific question: Does protein sorting involving the plasma membrane require a native conformation?

III. To determine whether normal multimerized von Willebrand factor (VWF) and multimerization-defective VWF are differently targeted to secretory lysosomes.

Specific question: Will multimerized VWF be sorted for storage in the secretory lysosomes or trigger formation of Weibel-Palade-like organelles when constitutively expressed in haematopoietic cells?

IV. To determine whether a cytosolic sorting sequence can target a non-haematopoietic protein to secretory lysosomes.

Specific question: Is it possible to target an exogenous protein to the secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells?

Experimental considerations

Here, the principles, advantages and disadvantages of the most important methods are covered briefly. For more detailed descriptions, see **Appendix**.

Cell models

The mucosal mast cell-resembling Rat Basophilic Leukemia cell line RBL-1 [118], and the murine myeloblast-like cell line 32D c13 [119] were chosen for stable expression of cDNA constructs.

The intracellular granule content of RBL-1 cells, like the azurophil granule content of human neutrophils, is dominated by lysosomal enzymes and serine proteases [118]. These proteins are packaged in the same compartment, which also contains the lysosomal-associated membrane proteins (LAMPs) [120], suggesting the RBL-1 granule to be a lysosome-related organelle.

32D-cells contain cytoplasmic granules that have an abnormal vacuolelike appearance [119, 121]. The granules do also carry the lysosomal marker LAMP-1 [122, 123], indicating lysosomal resemblance, and are able to fuse with newly synthesized phagosomes with subsequent release of their contents [119], making them resemble degranulating azurophil granules. The mast cell line RBL-2H3, used in immunofluorescence microscopy experiments, grow in adherent layers and can be grown directly on cover slips prior to immunostaining. This may reduce the possible appearance of arte-facts caused by the attachment of cells to poly-lysine.

In conclusion, immortalized cell lines do not correspond perfectly to their normal counterparts and, in addition, over-expression of a protein in a cell line may contribute to misleading results, not applicable to normal cells. Therefore, it is important to verify the present results, obtained in studies with cell lines, in experiments with neutrophil precursor cells. This has been done with the findings in **paper IV** (see **Appendix**) [124].

Transfections

All cDNA constructs used in this present investigation (papers I-IV) were stably transfected into the cells and subjected to monoclonal selection and expansion. This was, in contrast to transient transfection or polyclonal selection, preferable in our studies since large numbers of cells, expressing the proteins of interest, were required for a long period of time.

Biosynthetic radiolabelling and immunoprecipitation

These methods in combination are useful for time measurements of ongoing processes like protein synthesis, intracellular protein transport, processing and secretion. In contrast to the immunoblotting method, which measures the "steady state", biosynthetic radiolabelling allows studies of *de novo* synthesized proteins. Complete lysis of the cells, is however important for successful immunoprecipitation of the radiolabelled proteins.

Subcellular fractionation

Subcellular fractionation on a Percoll gradient is a useful method in comparison studies of subcellular protein distribution after radiolabelling and chase of the radiolabel. A disadvantage is that different organelles with identical density cannot be separated on a density gradient. It is therefore preferable to include a co-localization marker in the experiment, or confirm the obtained results by studies using microscopy techniques.

Immunoelectron microscopy

The advantage of this method is that high-resolution pictures of intracellular structures are obtained. These can be used to determine the subcellular localization of a protein of interest, also within an individual compartment. Moreover, the eventual co-localization with endogenous proteins can be studied. However, it is crucial that the cells are kept intact by fixation and that specific antibody binding is obtained. It is preferable to combine this method with other methods like subcellular fractionation and, in some cases, other microscopy techniques.

Flowcytometry

The immunostainings preceding the flowcytometry analyses were performed at a temperature not exceeding 15°C in order to avoid endocytosis of cell surface located proteins, which might give a misleading result. The granulocytic cells in our experiments were gated according to forward and side scatter to exclude dead cells from the analyses. With regard to unspecific antibody binding and cell survival, it is preferable to confirm the obtained results by microscopy techniques visualizing the cell surface/intracellular localization of the labelled proteins.

Immunofluorescence microscopy

In accordance to the flowcytometry experiments (see above), the immunostainings preceding the analyses were performed at maximum 15°C, in order to avoid endocytosis. The advantage of this method is that successfully immunofluorescence-labelled proteins can be easily visualized, and their cell surface- versus intracellular localization can be determined.

However, the expression of stably transfected protein constructs, as well as the specificity and efficiency of the immunofluorescence labelling, may vary depending on the cell line and the protein, rendering quantitative comparisons difficult. This method is therefore preferentially combined with other, more objective quantitative analyses. In **paper II**, the obtained results were confirmed by flowcytometry and protein biotinylation, and in **paper IV** this method was combined with subcellular fractionation and immunoelectron microscopy.

General discussion and concluding remarks

The detailed results from the present investigation will not be described here. The reader is referred to the original papers in the **Appendix** for the presentation of the primary data. Instead, general questions concerning the obtained results will be discussed.

1. Does aggregation of proteins facilitate their sorting for storage in secretory lysosomes?

(papers I and III)

The effect of protein aggregation on sorting for storage was investigated because of its proposed role in targeting of soluble protein hormones in exocrine and endocrine cells [125, 126].

Two basic models for sorting into secretory granules have previously been suggested in such cells: sorting-for-entry, which is a passive process that sorts proteins into the forming immature secretory granule, and sorting-by-retention, an active process operating in the immature secretory granule [127].

In exocrine and endocrine cells, which like neutrophils have storage granules whose content can be released by regulated secretion, protein aggregation has been suggested to be involved in both basic models mentioned here. Whether the protein aggregation occurs passively or is actively controlled by the cell is however not clear, and although aggregation is important, the formation of secretory granules has been suggested to require more than protein precipitation [125, 126].

In **paper I**, we asked whether artificially induced aggregation could affect targeting to secretory lysosomes in haematopoietic cells.

This was investigated by using intracellularly controlled oligomerization of hybrid proteins (**Figure 5**), reversibly induced by the lipid soluble and cell-permeable drug FK506 [128]. One hybrid protein consisted of neutrophil elastase (ELA) fused with FK506 binding protein (FKBP) resulting in the hybrid protein ELA-(FKBP)₃, which was induced to aggregate by the addition of FK506 dimeric ligand. Another construct contained human growth hormone (hGH) fused with an FKBP variant (FKBP*) to form (FKBP*)₄-FCS-hGH, which aggregates spontaneously and can be cleaved by furin in the TGN. The aggregates dissociate upon addition of monomeric ligand.

The results indicated no targeting of the hybrid proteins to the secretory lysosomes of the cell lines tested. Instead, both ELA-(FKBP)₃ and (FKBP*)₄-FCS-hGH were eliminated from the cell, in both aggregated and non-aggregated form, by constitutive secretion. Also free hGH,

released by furin in the Golgi complex, was constitutively secreted. In contrast, transgenic expression of full length ELA, in these cells, performed by Gullberg et al. [35], showed targeting to secretory lysosomes, in addition to constitutive secretion of proteolytically unprocessed ELA.



Figure 5. Schematic picture of the cDNA constructs encoding ELA-(FKBP)₃ (A) and (FKBP*)₄-FCS-hGH (B) and ligand-induced aggregation/dissociation. (A) Presence of ligand (+ ligand) leads to formation of protein aggregates. (B) In the absence of ligand (- ligand) the hybrid protein aggregates spontaneously. In the presence of ligand (+ ligand) the aggregates dissociate. Abbreviations: SS; signal sequence, ELA; elastase, FKBP; FK506 binding protein, FKBP*; mutated FK506 binding protein, FCS; furin cleavage site, hGH; human growth hormone.

From this we concluded that protein aggregation is unlikely to be the sole mechanism for targeting of soluble proteins to the secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells. Rather, targeting seemed to rely on structural requirements such as correct processing and folding. An important observation was that the hybrid proteins, which are unlikely to have a native conformation, in contrast to many other non-native proteins, were constitutively secreted instead of being subjected to ER-associated degradation. To further elucidate the role of protein aggregation in secretory lysosome targeting, we expressed the plasma protein von Willebrand factor (VWF) in haematopoietic cells (**paper III**). VWF is normally expressed in endothelial cells and megakaryocytes. After processing steps including multimerization and propeptide removal, it is sorted for storage as very high molecular weight multimers [109, 129] in Weibel-Palade bodies of endothelial cells [112] and platelet granules [113].

VWF was chosen because it is a spontaneously aggregating protein that is normally targeted for storage with subsequent release by regulated secretion. In addition, it can be expressed in a number of cells other than endothelial cells and megakaryocytes [102-107], and has the ability to form storage granules also upon expression in heterologous cells [107]. Here, we compared the targeting of wild type (wt) VWF and a VWF propeptide mutant with a multimerization defect (VWF_m) [130]

(Figure 6).



Figure 6. Schematic picture of the cDNA constructs encoding the VWF proteins used in the investigation. (A) shows wild type pro-VWF and (B) VWF containing a mutation in the propeptide, which renders the protein multimerization defective. Abbreviations: VWF; von Willebrand factor, propeptide_m; mutated propeptide.

Our results indicated targeting of VWF, but no Weibel-Palade body formation. Although not strictly quantitatively comparable, the lack of detectable VWF_m in secretory lysosomes, in contrast to detectable VWF, suggests a requirement for protein multimerization for targeting. This conclusion seems to be in contrast to the previous one (**paper I**), suggesting protein aggregation not to be crucial for targeting.

However, on the basis of the observations in paper I we speculate on a novel protein quality control system in the secretory pathway. Others have suggested post-ER quality control involving retrograde transport of non-native proteins from the Golgi back to the ER and the ER-associated degradation pathway, alternatively targeting into the endosomal system for lysosomal degradation [131]. Our observations suggest an alternative quality control in which proteins with non-native conformation may be prevented from targeting to secretory lysosomes and instead of being targeted for degradation become eliminated by constitutive secretion. This implies that the ER protein quality control is not perfect but can allow escape of non-native proteins to the Golgi complex, as was actually noticed previously [38, 132]. In addition, previous results from our laboratory indicate targeting for storage of exogenous proteins expressed in myeloid cells, suggesting the targeting mechanisms to be cell-specific and not protein-specific with restriction to endogenous proteins [132, 133]. The present results indicate however that targeting may also be conformation-dependent.

Noteworthy is also that although protein aggregation is not sufficient for sorting-for-entry of proteins in the TGN, into the regulated secretory pathway, it cannot be excluded that the indicated protein stabilizing effect of aggregation might have a role in sorting-by-retention in the granules. In the latter sorting model, proteins that are concentrated into granules are retained to different extents, suggesting the existence of a sorting mechanism in this organelle. Studies in exocrine and endocrine cells have indicated protein aggregation to be involved in the sorting-by-retention mechanism [125, 126]. However, sorting-for-entry into the forming granules is a prerequisite for studies of this possibility in haematopoietic cells.

Concerning the conclusion in **paper III**, the suggestion of a novel type of post-ER protein quality control may lead to an alternative interpretation of the results. Thus, the results may imply that the VWF_m was not targeted to the secretory lysosomes because of a non-native conformation. Instead, unlike the VWF, VWF_m was constitutively secreted. In support of this suggestion, it has been demonstrated that VWF multimerization is not a prerequisite for storage of VWF in the mouse pituitary tumour cell line AtT-20 [115]. Rather, structurally competent VWF and a propeptide capable of non-covalent association with the mature VWF for co-traffic to storage granules, is suggested to be required for VWF storage [115].

2. Does protein sorting involving the plasma membrane require a native conformation?

(paper II)

Recent investigations in our laboratory suggested an indirect pathway for targeting of neutrophil proELA to secretory lysosomes, involving the plasma membrane [134]. Therefore, our work on the hybrid protein ELA-(FKBP)₃ was extended to examine whether the chimera also could be targeted to the cell membrane and become internalized or not (**paper II**). We used the same reversible aggregation system as in **paper I**, described briefly in *paragraph 1* and **Figure 5** above. The results indicated that

ELA-(FKBP)₃ was present on the cell surface in both aggregated and non-aggregated form, but in contrast to proELA, it was not internalized in the cell lines tested.

Our findings, indicating endosomal reuptake of cell surface localized proELA, is consistent with the proposed indirect targeting route via the plasma membrane, and also in accordance with the suggested requirement for an intact C-terminal propeptide [134]. Yet, ELA-(FKBP)₃, which also should contain an intact C-terminal propeptide was excluded from internalization. Instead, the protein was constitutively secreted in both monomeric and oligomeric form.

This might indicate that ELA-(FKBP)₃, which is a chimeric protein and thereby unlikely to expose a native conformation, is excluded from endosomal uptake because of a failure in conformational requirements. In support of this, the mechanism of endocytosis has been demonstrated to be a highly controlled and regulated process, dependent on specific signalling molecules, specific receptors, transmembrane regions and interactions with adaptor molecules, and is not likely to occur passively [56]. Therefore, ELA-(FKBP)₃ in both monomeric and oligomeric form may be excluded from internalization because of a failure in interacting with a specific receptor or an adaptor molecule, probably depending on a non-native conformation.

Moreover, neutrophil ELA has previously been suggested to be capable of, in addition to the luminal conformation, also adopt a transmembrane configuration, where the C-terminus extrudes into the cytoplasm [135]. The fact that our results indicated the cell surface located ELA-(FKBP)₃ to be insensitive to ionic strength and low pH, may support the possibility that the fusion protein may be incorporated as a transmembrane protein in the cell membrane. However, the fact that ELA-(FKBP)₃ in our experiments could be detected by an anti-proELA antibody directed against the C-terminus, suggesting this part to be exposed on the outer surface, contradicts this possibility. Nevertheless, our data also indicated binding of anti-ELA and anti-FKBP antibodies to the cell surface located ELA-(FKBP)₃, which is likely to require an exposure of a large portion of the fusion protein on the cell surface.

This implies that the proposed existence of a proELA transmembrane configuration with the C-terminal on the outer surface of the cell membrane cannot be excluded, provided that the ELA protein contains two transmembrane domains, which has been suggested by Benson et al. [135].

Taken together, the results from this investigation suggest a difference in protein targeting between a native and a non-native protein, which is most likely to depend on conformational differences. The results in **papers I** and **III** led us to speculate on a post-ER protein quality control, possibly operating in the Golgi complex. The findings in this paper may lead to speculations about the existence of a protein quality control operating at the plasma membrane, rescuing proteins for internalization or discarding them by constitutive secretion.

3. Is it possible to target exogenous proteins to the secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells?

(paper IV)

We asked whether it is possible to target an exogenous protein to secretory lysosomes in haematopoietic cells for storage and subsequent release by regulated secretion. This could be useful as a therapeutic principle using secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells as vehicles for therapeutic proteins to be released at inflamed sites [54].

The protein used in the investigation was the soluble TNF receptor form (sTNFR1), which was chosen because TNF is a very potent mediator in inflammatory reactions. Furthermore, blockade of TNF, in order to neutralize its activation, has proven to be successful as a therapeutic approach in the treatment of certain immune-mediated inflammatory diseases [50].

Since sTNFR1 is retained in the ER, not being a normal gene product when expressed in haematopoietic cell lines [132], the protein was expressed with a transmembrane (tm) domain from TNFR1, in order to avoid ER retention. In addition, in order to get sorting for storage in secretory lysosomes, and thereby prevent constitutive secretion, a cytosolic tyrosine sorting signal (SIRSGYEVM) from CD63 [136], here termed Y, was incorporated, resulting in the protein sTNFR1-tm-Y (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Schematic picture of the proteins used in the investigation. (A) shows sTNFR1-tm and (B) sTNFR1-tm-Y. Abbreviations: sTNFR1; soluble tumour necrosis factor receptor 1, tm; transmembrane domain, Y; cytosolic tyrosine sorting signal from CD63 (SIRSGYEVM).

Our results showed that targeting of an exogenous protein to haematopoietic storage organelles is possible to achieve. However, addition of the transmembrane part was required in order to avoid ER retention followed by degradation, and instead get transport to the Golgi complex. The sTNFR1-tm was observed to be excluded from sorting in the TGN and constitutively secreted, which may indicate a post-ER protein quality control where failure to pass leads to constitutive secretion, as suggested above (**papers I-III**). The addition of a cytosolic sorting signal for secretory lysosomes taken from the transmembrane CD63 protein (Y) allowed the protein sTNFR1-tm-Y to be targeted to secretory lysosomes. This demonstrates that sorting signals for transmembrane proteins can be utilized for targeting of exogenous proteins to secretory lysosomes.

After targeting the protein was, in part, released by endogenous proteolytic activity to generate a soluble protein. In addition, RBL-1 cells could be stimulated to secrete both sTNFR1-tm-Y and sTNFR1, suggesting that sTNFR1-tm-Y is rather stable in the proteolytic environment of the secretory lysosome, except for the loss of the tm-Y fragment. The secretory proteins are usually stored in dense cores and may thereby resist proteolysis. In addition, a proteoglycan matrix may protect the stored proteins against degradation [137]. It could be that stimulation of the RBL cells leads to secretion of the membrane-bound sTNFR1-tm-Y from the secretory lysosome by the formation of small internal membrane vesicles termed exosomes [138]. Importantly, the sTNFR1 was secreted from the cell.

Taken together, the results in **paper IV** suggest that the granule subsets of haematopoietic cells might be used as carriers for pharmacologically

active molecules to be delivered into phagosomes, malignant processes and inflamed tissue [54]. The approach utilized here may have a general application. A prerequisite for successful use is however the clearance of the gene product by both an ER protein quality control and possible post-ER protein quality control systems.

4. Could lack of targeting for storage be due to failure in post-ER protein quality controls?

It is well documented that newly synthesized proteins in the ER are subjected to a quality control prior to ER export [59]. Unfolded or misfolded proteins are recognized by an unfolded protein response system, which is tightly connected to the endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation (ERAD) system [69], where proteins that fail are retro-translocated from the ER to the cytosol. Here, the proteins are tagged with ubiquitin and subsequently targeted to the cytosolic proteasome for degradation [66, 69].

However, previous results from our laboratory have suggested this protein quality control not to be perfect, as escape of non-native proteins to the Golgi complex could be observed [38, 132]. In support of this, certain cases of retrieval of misfolded proteins from the Golgi complex to the ER have actually been reported [74-76].

In addition, the *in vitro* observation of constitutively secreted incompletely polymerized and processed von Willebrand factor, i.e. functionally incompetent protein [108, 139] may be in support of this. The fact that these dysfunctional proteins were not intracellularly degraded, but instead released from the cell by constitutive secretion fits with our observations of the constitutively secreted hybrid proteins ELA-(FKBP)₃ (**paper I** and **II**), (FKBP*)₄-FCS-hGH (**paper I**) and the

mutated protein VWF_m (**paper III**), which were all excluded from targeting and instead eliminated from the cell by constitutive secretion. The escape of these non-native proteins from ERAD suggests a "leaky" ER protein quality control, possibly requiring specific retention signals in the proteins.

Moreover, the lack of targeting of the above proteins indicate a requirement for specific sorting signals in the Golgi complex, suggesting the sorting process to be an active and not a passive process, and an ability of discrepancy between different proteins in this organelle. Therefore, we speculate on the existence of a post-ER protein quality control possibly operating in the Golgi complex, which discard proteins with non-native conformations from the cell by constitutive secretion.

Our observations that a cell surface located native protein, in contrast to a non-native cell surface located protein, was internalized (**paper II**), indicated special requirements for endosomal reuptake. This extends our speculation about a post-ER protein quality control to include a possible existence of a protein quality control operating at the plasma membrane, rescuing proteins for internalization or discarding them by constitutive secretion.

Since the protein quality control in the ER has been reported not to be perfect, but allow some escape of unfolded or misfolded proteins [131], probably because of a saturation of the retention capacity or lack of protein retention signals, one cannot exclude the possibility of a post-ER protein quality control existing as a "back-up system" to protect the cell from accumulation of dysfunctional proteins.

Evidence for the existence of a post-ER protein quality control, especially operating in the Golgi complex where it targets misfolded proteins for vacuolar degradation, has been observed in yeast [78-80].

Concluding remarks

To summarize, the results from the present investigation suggest that aggregation of proteins does not facilitate their sorting-for-entry into forming granules destined for the secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells. Rather, a native conformation seems to be required in order to avoid elimination from the cell by constitutive secretion.

In addition, a native conformation was indicated to be a requirement for endosomal uptake of cell surface located proteins. This leads to suggestions about protein quality controls existing at post-ER levels in the secretory pathway, possibly operating in the Golgi complex and at the plasma membrane. The results indicated the suggested post-ER protein quality controls to, instead of targeting failing proteins for intracellular degradation as is observed in ER protein quality control, eliminate the proteins from the cell by constitutive secretion.

Moreover, targeting for storage of soluble TNF receptor to secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells was achieved. This may be useful in the development of a concept involving secretory lysosomes of haematopoietic cells as vehicles for targeting of therapeutic molecules for local release at sites of persistent inflammation.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

Upplagring av proteiner i vita blodkroppar

Kroppens immunförsvar, vars uppgift är att skydda oss mot infektioner, består av ett antal olika celltyper som till stor del finns i blodet. Immunförsvaret kan indelas i två delar; ett medfött försvar som är likadant hos alla individer och ett försvar som byggs upp under individens livstid. Det senare utformas olika beroende på vilka bakterier och virus som individen utsätts för. En viktig celltyp i det medfödda immunförsvaret är de s.k. neutrofilerna som tillhör de vita blodkropparna. Deras uppgift är att vara bland de första immuncellerna på plats och skydda kroppen i det akuta skedet, då kroppen får ovälkommet besök av potentiellt farliga bakterier. Neutrofilerna transporteras med blodet till infektionsstället och vid ankomsten lämnar de blodkärlen och går ut i vävnaden där de "äter upp" inkräktarna. Inuti neutrofilerna oskadliggörs sedan bakterierna av ett antal bakteriedödande proteiner som finns lagrade i små blåsor, s.k. granula, i cellen. Dessa proteiner kan dock ibland komma ut och orsakar då skador på den omkringliggande vävnaden. Neutrofilen kan även stimuleras av faktorer i den inflammatoriska processen att utsöndra de toxiska granula-proteinerna till omgivningen. Upplagringen av de bakteriedödande proteinerna måste vara väl reglerad så att dessa kan frisättas vid rätt tillfälle och på rätt plats för att undvika vävnadsskada. I mitt arbete har jag därför koncentrerat mig på att studera hur transport och upplagring av proteiner i granula går till, i syfte att hitta de styrande mekanismerna. Dessa skulle i så fall kanske kunna påverkas för att undvika ogynnsam inflammation.

Dels har jag studerat effekten av aggregation, dvs. sammanhopning av proteiner, för transporten av nytillverkade proteiner till granula. Aggregation skulle kunna vara ett sätt att fylla granula med innehåll.

I studien undersöktes både naturligt och modifierat protein. Resultaten visade dock att endast naturligt protein kunde lagras och att aggregation av proteiner därmed inte tycks vara tillräckligt som mekanism för att styra proteinerna till granula. Istället utsöndrades de icke-naturliga proteinerna från cellen, kanske ett sätt för naturlig eliminering av felaktiga proteiner.

Sedan undersöktes upptaget av proteiner på cellens yta för transport till granula, med avsikt att studera skillnader i transport via cellmembranet mellan naturligt och icke naturligt protein. Resultaten visade att ett i cellen naturligt protein kunde tas in från ytan för upplagring i granula, medan ett modifierat protein inte togs upp utan istället utsöndrades.

Sammantaget antyder resultaten att proteiner måste passera en "kvalitetskontroll", som "underkänner" och sorterar bort onaturliga eller felaktiga proteiner från att upplagras i granula. En sådan kvalitetskontroll har redan rapporterats i en struktur i cellen som kallas det endoplasmatiska retiklet, där icke godkända proteiner skickas till nedbrytning i s.k. proteasomer inuti cellen. Resultaten från dessa experiment tyder dock på att proteinerna kan utsättas för kvalitetskontroll även i en struktur kallad Golgi-apparaten, samt på cellens yta, dvs. på det s.k. cellmembranet. Kvalitetskontroll av proteiner i dessa strukturer, som dessutom inte tycks skicka felaktiga proteiner till nedbrytning utan istället utsöndrar dem från cellen. finns inte rapporterad tidigare. Kvalitetskontroll i Golgi-apparaten har dock föreslagits existera i jästceller.

Som ovan nämnts, kan frisättning av bakteriedödande proteiner vid en inflammatorisk reaktion orsaka vävnadsskador. Det är därför viktigt att inflammationsprocessen regleras ordentligt och att den avslutas så snart de invaderade mikroorganismerna oskadliggjorts. En icke fungerande reglering av det inflammatoriska försvaret kan i kombination med ärftliga faktorer bidra till uppkomst av kronisk inflammatorisk sjukdom såsom *reumatisk ledsjukdom*.

I mitt arbete har jag därför även intresserat mig för hur man kan dämpa den inflammatoriska reaktionen, i syfte att minska vävnadsskadorna, då de naturliga regleringsmekanismerna satts ur spel.

Ett sätt skulle kunna vara att, med hjälp av genteknik, använda sig av neutrofila granula för upplagring av anti-inflammatoriska proteiner. Dessa skulle då kunna styras direkt till inflammationsstället och där frisätta de inflammationsdämpande proteinerna.

Därför undersöktes möjligheten att förse ett protein, som normalt inte upplagras i neutrofila granula, med en "upplagringssignal" från ett annat protein som normalt styrs till granula. Här valdes det att försöka lagra upp ett protein som kan oskadliggöra så kallad tumörnekrotisk faktor (TNF), som har stor inblandning i den vävnadsförstörelse som kan uppstå vid inflammation. Resultaten visade att proteinet transporterades till granula för upplagring där. Detta antyder att neutrofila granula skulle kunna användas som bärare av terapeutiska proteiner för att lokalt dämpa inflammatoriska processer med avsikt att minska vävnadsskador. Detta koncept skulle även kunna tillämpas på andra celler i immunförsvaret som också innehåller granula vars innehåll kan utsöndras i en inflammationsprocess.

Acknowledgements

Jag vill här tacka alla, nuvarande och före detta, vänner och arbetskamrater på **Avdelningen för Hematologi** som bidragit till att skapa ett så avslappnat, trevligt och kreativt arbetsklimat. Särskilt vill jag tacka:

Inge Olsson, min handledare, för att jag fått ta del av ditt fantastiska vetenskapliga kunnande och för att du alltid tagit dig tid när jag har behövt hjälp. Tack också för goda äpplepajer och intressanta filosofiska diskussioner!

Urban Gullberg, min biträdande handledare, för bra synpunkter och givande diskussioner om mitt projekt. Tack också för ditt stora bidrag till den trevliga atmosfären på vår avdelning!

Lars Holmberg och Ann-Charlotte Kristoffersson, avdelningen för pediatrik, tack för trevligt och givande samarbete.

Jero Calafat, Amsterdam, thanks for fruitful collaboration.

Hans Tapper, avdelningen för klinisk och experimentell infektionsmedicin, tack för att jag fått låna ditt fina immunofluorescensmikroskop.

Ellinor Johnsson, tack för ditt glada humör och härliga humor. Tack också för din ovärderliga hjälp med mitt projekt. Det har varit fantastiskt roligt att jobba ihop med dig!

Ann-Maj Persson, du som provat allt i metodväg, tack för att du alltid tagit dig tid och tålmodigt delat med dig av dina värdefulla erfarenheter. Tack också för all din vänlighet och omtanke!

Sofia Rondin-Lindberg, min "room-mate", maskeradkompis och klagomur/bollplank! Du har bl.a. lärt mig vad tålamod är och det

(framförallt på labbet) mycket användbara uttrycket "det var ju typans"! Tack för alla roliga stunder vi haft i och utanför labbet.

André Olsson, min datorhjälte! Stort tack för din ovärderliga hjälp då jag och min dator inte riktigt kommit överens! Tack också för att du varit en så pratsam och trevlig kompis!

Ying Gao, thanks for beeing a kind and helpful colleague and a very nice conference travel partner!

Linda Källquist, tack för att du tagit dig tid att tålmodigt dela med dig av dina FACS- och immunofluorescensmikroskopikunskaper! Tack också för att du varit en så trevlig arbetskamrat!

Markus Hansson, tack för ditt vetenskapliga bidragande till vår lilla grupp och för att du varit en trevlig medarbetare.

Susanna Obad, tack för avkopplande shoppingturer och trevliga fikastunder. Tack också för att du så ofta gjort mig sällskap i cellodlingen!

Louise Edvardsson, tack för allt stöd under skrivandet av den här avhandlingen och alla välbehövliga kaffepauser med många skratt.

Emelie Svensson, tack för dina roliga maskerad-fester och alla gånger vi drömt oss bort till Alpernas härliga branter!

Malin Ageberg, tack för att du varit en så trevlig och "Frankrikegillande" arbetskamrat!

Andreas Lennartsson, tack för ditt glada humör, din ständiga optimism och sist men inte minst alla glada tillrop då vi svettats på labbet sena kvällar!

Jag vill också tacka hela gänget som var med på konferensen i Paris sommaren 2003 för en mycket minnesvärd tripp!

Katrien Pieters, tack för roligt sällskap på labbet och på konferensen (och Tivoli!) i Köpenhamn!

Karina Vidovic, tack för att du alltid tagit dig tid att dela med dig av dina labb-tips och erfarenheter och för att du varit en fantastiskt trevlig arbetskamrat!

Bodil Rosberg, tack för din goda hemmakokta julglögg och för att du varit en trevlig arbetskamrat!

May-Louise Andersson, vår fantastiska sekreterare och "fixare". Tack för att du alltid varit pålitlig och tagit dig tid att hjälpa till. Tack också för alla gånger du muntrat upp oss genom att trolla fram kakor till kaffet ifrån dina hemliga gömmor!

Monica Havenberg, tack för att du hållit rent och fint omkring oss och för alla trevliga pratstunder.

Och sist, men inte minst:

Karin, Håkan och Truls Rosén, tack för all kärlek och allt stöd under dessa år. Tack för att ni alltid funnits där och lyssnat. Tack också för att ni hjälpt till och tagit så väl hand om Moa då jag skrivit den här avhandlingen!

Tack **Jonas**, för all kärlek, allt tålamod och stöd under de här jobbmässigt "berg-och-dalbane-lika" åren. Tack för att du fått mig att skratta och må bra även mindre lyckade dagar!

Moa, min älskade lilla gullunge, tack för att du förgyllt min tillvaro på så många sätt!

Jag vill också tacka "**lilla kotten**" i magen för att du stått ut med mina stressattacker och (i alla fall hittills) hållit dig "cool" och inte ploppat ut.

Tack också all **släkt** (inte minst min underbara **mormor**!) och alla **vänner** utanför labbet som funnits i min närhet och varit ett stort stöd under denna resans gång. STORT TACK!

References

- 1. Zhu, J., Emerson, S.G. (2002) Hematopoietic cytokines, transcription factors and lineage commitment. *Oncogene* **21**, 3295-313.
- Adolfsson, J., Mansson, R., Buza-Vidas, N., Hultquist, A., Liuba, K., Jensen, C.T., Bryder, D., Yang, L., Borge, O.J., Thoren, L.A., Anderson, K., Sitnicka, E., Sasaki, Y., Sigvardsson, M., Jacobsen, S.E. (2005) Identification of Flt3+ lympho-myeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. *Cell* 121, 295-306.
- 3. Katsura, Y. (2002) Redefinition of lymphoid progenitors. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2**, 127-32.
- 4. Janeway, C.A., Jr., Medzhitov, R. (2002) Innate immune recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol* **20**, 197-216.
- 5. Medzhitov, R., Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1997) Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. *Cell* **91**, 295-8.
- 6. Tosi, M.F. (2005) Innate immune responses to infection. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **116**, 241-9; quiz 250.
- 7. Rus, H., Cudrici, C., Niculescu, F. (2005) The role of the complement system in innate immunity. *Immunol Res* **33**, 103-12.
- 8. Akira, S., Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. (2001) Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. *Nat Immunol* **2**, 675-80.
- 9. Gordon, J.R., Galli, S.J. (1990) Mast cells as a source of both preformed and immunologically inducible TNF-alpha/cachectin. *Nature* **346**, 274-6.
- 10. Reddy, K.V., Yedery, R.D., Aranha, C. (2004) Antimicrobial peptides: premises and promises. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* **24**, 536-47.
- 11. Ganz, T. (2004) Antimicrobial polypeptides. J Leukoc Biol 75, 34-8.
- 12. Ganz, T. (2003) Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* **3**, 710-20.
- 13. Borish, L.C., Steinke, J.W. (2003) 2. Cytokines and chemokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **111**, S460-75.
- 14. Esche, C., Stellato, C., Beck, L.A. (2005) Chemokines: key players in innate and adaptive immunity. *J Invest Dermatol* **125**, 615-28.
- 15. Gouwy, M., Struyf, S., Proost, P., Van Damme, J. (2005) Synergy in cytokine and chemokine networks amplifies the inflammatory response. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **16**, 561-80.
- Barry, M., Bleackley, R.C. (2002) Cytotoxic T lymphocytes: all roads lead to death. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 401-9.
- Krammer, P.H. (2000) CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. *Nature* 407, 789-95.
- Peter, M.E., Krammer, P.H. (1998) Mechanisms of CD95 (APO-1/Fas)mediated apoptosis. *Curr Opin Immunol* 10, 545-51.
- Smyth, M.J., Cretney, E., Kelly, J.M., Westwood, J.A., Street, S.E., Yagita, H., Takeda, K., van Dommelen, S.L., Degli-Esposti, M.A., Hayakawa, Y. (2005) Activation of NK cell cytotoxicity. *Mol Immunol* 42, 501-10.
- 20. Aderem, A. (2002) How to eat something bigger than your head. *Cell* **110**, 5-8.
- 21. Aderem, A., Underhill, D.M. (1999) Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. *Annu Rev Immunol* **17**, 593-623.

- 22. Lee, W.L., Harrison, R.E., Grinstein, S. (2003) Phagocytosis by neutrophils. *Microbes Infect* 5, 1299-306.
- 23. Serhan, C.N., Savill, J. (2005) Resolution of inflammation: the beginning programs the end. *Nat Immunol* **6**, 1191-7.
- Hynes, R.O. (2002) Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. *Cell* 110, 673-87.
- 25. Burg, N.D., Pillinger, M.H. (2001) The neutrophil: function and regulation in innate and humoral immunity. *Clin Immunol* **99**, 7-17.
- Del Maschio, A., Zanetti, A., Corada, M., Rival, Y., Ruco, L., Lampugnani, M.G., Dejana, E. (1996) Polymorphonuclear leukocyte adhesion triggers the disorganization of endothelial cell-to-cell adherens junctions. *J Cell Biol* 135, 497-510.
- 27. Feng, D., Nagy, J.A., Pyne, K., Dvorak, H.F., Dvorak, A.M. (1998) Neutrophils emigrate from venules by a transendothelial cell pathway in response to FMLP. *J Exp Med* **187**, 903-15.
- 28. Karlsson, A., Dahlgren, C. (2002) Assembly and activation of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase in granule membranes. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **4**, 49-60.
- 29. Hansson, M., Olsson, I., Nauseef, W.M. (2006) Biosynthesis, processing, and sorting of human myeloperoxidase. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **445**, 214-24.
- 30. Faurschou, M., Borregaard, N. (2003) Neutrophil granules and secretory vesicles in inflammation. *Microbes Infect* **5**, 1317-27.
- Gullberg, U., Andersson, E., Garwicz, D., Lindmark, A., Olsson, I. (1997) Biosynthesis, processing and sorting of neutrophil proteins: insight into neutrophil granule development. *Eur J Haematol* 58, 137-53.
- 32. Borregaard, N., Cowland, J.B. (1997) Granules of the human neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocyte. *Blood* **89**, 3503-21.
- Gullberg, U., Bengtsson, N., Bulow, E., Garwicz, D., Lindmark, A., Olsson, I. (1999) Processing and targeting of granule proteins in human neutrophils. *J Immunol Methods* 232, 201-10.
- Garwicz, D., Lindmark, A., Persson, A.M., Gullberg, U. (1998) On the role of the proform-conformation for processing and intracellular sorting of human cathepsin G. *Blood* 92, 1415-22.
- Gullberg, U., Lindmark, A., Lindgren, G., Persson, A.M., Nilsson, E., Olsson, I. (1995) Carboxyl-terminal prodomain-deleted human leukocyte elastase and cathepsin G are efficiently targeted to granules and enzymatically activated in the rat basophilic/mast cell line RBL. *J Biol Chem* 270, 12912-8.
- Lindmark, A., Garwicz, D., Rasmussen, P.B., Flodgaard, H., Gullberg, U. (1999) Characterization of the biosynthesis, processing, and sorting of human HBP/CAP37/azurocidin. *J Leukoc Biol* 66, 634-43.
- 37. Garwicz, D., Lindmark, A., Gullberg, U. (1995) Human cathepsin G lacking functional glycosylation site is proteolytically processed and targeted for storage in granules after transfection to the rat basophilic/mast cell line RBL or the murine myeloid cell line 32D. *J Biol Chem* **270**, 28413-8.
- Andersson, E., Hellman, L., Gullberg, U., Olsson, I. (1998) The role of the propeptide for processing and sorting of human myeloperoxidase. *J Biol Chem* 273, 4747-53.
- Ageberg, M., Lindmark, A. (2003) Characterisation of the biosynthesis and processing of the neutrophil granule membrane protein CD63 in myeloid cells. *Clin Lab Haematol* 25, 297-306.

- Blott, E.J., Griffiths, G.M. (2002) Secretory lysosomes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 3, 122-31.
- 41. Pawankar, R. (2005) Mast cells in allergic airway disease and chronic rhinosinusitis. *Chem Immunol Allergy* **87**, 111-29.
- 42. Tsai, M., Grimbaldeston, M.A., Yu, M., Tam, S.Y., Galli, S.J. (2005) Using mast cell knock-in mice to analyze the roles of mast cells in allergic responses in vivo. *Chem Immunol Allergy* **87**, 179-97.
- 43. Jutel, M., Blaser, K., Akdis, C.A. (2006) The role of histamine in regulation of immune responses. *Chem Immunol Allergy* **91**, 174-87.
- 44. Marshall, J.S., Jawdat, D.M. (2004) Mast cells in innate immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **114**, 21-7.
- 45. Martin, P., Leibovich, S.J. (2005) Inflammatory cells during wound repair: the good, the bad and the ugly. *Trends Cell Biol* **15**, 599-607.
- 46. Dallegri, F., Ottonello, L. (1997) Tissue injury in neutrophilic inflammation. *Inflamm Res* **46**, 382-91.
- Hehlgans, T., Pfeffer, K. (2005) The intriguing biology of the tumour necrosis factor/tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily: players, rules and the games. *Immunology* 115, 1-20.
- Bjornberg, F., Lantz, M., Gullberg, U. (1995) Metalloproteases and serineproteases are involved in the cleavage of the two tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptors to soluble forms in the myeloid cell lines U-937 and THP-1. *Scand J Immunol* 42, 418-24.
- 49. Idriss, H.T., Naismith, J.H. (2000) TNF alpha and the TNF receptor superfamily: structure-function relationship(s). *Microsc Res Tech* **50**, 184-95.
- 50. Taylor, P.C., Williams, R.O., Feldmann, M. (2004) Tumour necrosis factor alpha as a therapeutic target for immune-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* **15**, 557-63.
- 51. Reimold, A.M. (2003) New indications for treatment of chronic inflammation by TNF-alpha blockade. *Am J Med Sci* **325**, 75-92.
- 52. Feldmann, M., Maini, R.N. (2001) Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned? *Annu Rev Immunol* **19**, 163-96.
- 53. Weisman, M.H. (2002) What are the risks of biologic therapy in rheumatoid arthritis? An update on safety. *J Rheumatol Suppl* **65**, 33-8.
- 54. Hansson, M., Gao, Y., Rosen, H., Tapper, H., Olsson, I. (2004) Hematopoietic secretory granules as vehicles for the local delivery of cytokines and soluble cytokine receptors at sites of inflammation. *Eur Cytokine Netw* **15**, 167-76.
- 55. Ellgaard, L., Molinari, M., Helenius, A. (1999) Setting the standards: quality control in the secretory pathway. *Science* **286**, 1882-8.
- Conner, S.D., Schmid, S.L. (2003) Regulated portals of entry into the cell. *Nature* 422, 37-44.
- Perret, E., Lakkaraju, A., Deborde, S., Schreiner, R., Rodriguez-Boulan, E. (2005) Evolving endosomes: how many varieties and why? *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 17, 423-34.
- 58. Matlack, K.E., Mothes, W., Rapoport, T.A. (1998) Protein translocation: tunnel vision. *Cell* **92**, 381-90.
- 59. Ellgaard, L., Helenius, A. (2003) Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**, 181-91.
- 60. Helenius, A., Aebi, M. (2001) Intracellular functions of N-linked glycans. *Science* **291**, 2364-9.

- 61. Trombetta, E.S. (2003) The contribution of N-glycans and their processing in the endoplasmic reticulum to glycoprotein biosynthesis. *Glycobiology* **13**, 77R-91R.
- 62. Ma, Y., Hendershot, L.M. (2004) ER chaperone functions during normal and stress conditions. *J Chem Neuroanat* **28**, 51-65.
- 63. Gething, M.J. (1999) Role and regulation of the ER chaperone BiP. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **10**, 465-72.
- 64. Ellgaard, L., Frickel, E.M. (2003) Calnexin, calreticulin, and ERp57: teammates in glycoprotein folding. *Cell Biochem Biophys* **39**, 223-47.
- 65. Tang, B.L., Wang, Y., Ong, Y.S., Hong, W. (2005) COPII and exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1744**, 293-303.
- 66. Kostova, Z., Wolf, D.H. (2003) For whom the bell tolls: protein quality control of the endoplasmic reticulum and the ubiquitin-proteasome connection. *Embo J* **22**, 2309-17.
- Thrower, J.S., Hoffman, L., Rechsteiner, M., Pickart, C.M. (2000) Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *Embo J* 19, 94-102.
- 68. Baumeister, W., Walz, J., Zuhl, F., Seemuller, E. (1998) The proteasome: paradigm of a self-compartmentalizing protease. *Cell* **92**, 367-80.
- 69. Meusser, B., Hirsch, C., Jarosch, E., Sommer, T. (2005) ERAD: the long road to destruction. *Nat Cell Biol* **7**, 766-72.
- 70. Polishchuk, R.S., Mironov, A.A. (2004) Structural aspects of Golgi function. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **61**, 146-58.
- 71. Marsh, B.J., Howell, K.E. (2002) Timeline: The mammalian Golgi complex debates. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **3**, 789-95.
- 72. Puthenveedu, M.A., Linstedt, A.D. (2005) Subcompartmentalizing the Golgi apparatus. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **17**, 369-75.
- Schafer, W., Stroh, A., Berghofer, S., Seiler, J., Vey, M., Kruse, M.L., Kern, H.F., Klenk, H.D., Garten, W. (1995) Two independent targeting signals in the cytoplasmic domain determine trans-Golgi network localization and endosomal trafficking of the proprotein convertase furin. *Embo J* 14, 2424-35.
- 74. Hammond, C., Helenius, A. (1994) Quality control in the secretory pathway: retention of a misfolded viral membrane glycoprotein involves cycling between the ER, intermediate compartment, and Golgi apparatus. *J Cell Biol* **126**, 41-52.
- 75. Miesenbock, G., Rothman, J.E. (1995) The capacity to retrieve escaped ER proteins extends to the trans-most cisterna of the Golgi stack. *J Cell Biol* **129**, 309-19.
- Yamamoto, K., Fujii, R., Toyofuku, Y., Saito, T., Koseki, H., Hsu, V.W., Aoe, T. (2001) The KDEL receptor mediates a retrieval mechanism that contributes to quality control at the endoplasmic reticulum. *Embo J* 20, 3082-91.
- 77. Hauri, H.P., Kappeler, F., Andersson, H., Appenzeller, C. (2000) ERGIC-53 and traffic in the secretory pathway. *J Cell Sci* **113** (Pt 4), 587-96.
- Coughlan, C.M., Walker, J.L., Cochran, J.C., Wittrup, K.D., Brodsky, J.L. (2004) Degradation of mutated bovine pancreatic trypsin inhibitor in the yeast vacuole suggests post-endoplasmic reticulum protein quality control. *J Biol Chem* 279, 15289-97.
- 79. Hong, E., Davidson, A.R., Kaiser, C.A. (1996) A pathway for targeting soluble misfolded proteins to the yeast vacuole. *J Cell Biol* **135**, 623-33.

- Jorgensen, M.U., Emr, S.D., Winther, J.R. (1999) Ligand recognition and domain structure of Vps10p, a vacuolar protein sorting receptor in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Eur J Biochem* 260, 461-9.
- 81. Ponnambalam, S. (2003) Protein secretion and the Golgi apparatus. *Mol Membr Biol* **20**, 97-8.
- 82. Stinchcombe, J.C., Griffiths, G.M. (1999) Regulated secretion from hemopoietic cells. *J Cell Biol* 147, 1-6.
- 83. Ligeti, E., Mocsai, A. (1999) Exocytosis of neutrophil granulocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* **57**, 1209-14.
- 84. Mullins, C., Bonifacino, J.S. (2001) The molecular machinery for lysosome biogenesis. *Bioessays* 23, 333-43.
- 85. Stinchcombe, J., Bossi, G., Griffiths, G.M. (2004) Linking albinism and immunity: the secrets of secretory lysosomes. *Science* **305**, 55-9.
- 86. Maecker, H.T., Todd, S.C., Levy, S. (1997) The tetraspanin superfamily: molecular facilitators. *Faseb J* **11**, 428-42.
- 87. Eskelinen, E.L., Tanaka, Y., Saftig, P. (2003) At the acidic edge: emerging functions for lysosomal membrane proteins. *Trends Cell Biol* **13**, 137-45.
- 88. Dahlgren, C., Carlsson, S.R., Karlsson, A., Lundqvist, H., Sjolin, C. (1995) The lysosomal membrane glycoproteins Lamp-1 and Lamp-2 are present in mobilizable organelles, but are absent from the azurophil granules of human neutrophils. *Biochem J* **311 (Pt 2)**, 667-74.
- Chen, Y.A., Scheller, R.H. (2001) SNARE-mediated membrane fusion. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2, 98-106.
- 90. Zerial, M., McBride, H. (2001) Rab proteins as membrane organizers. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 107-17.
- Ward, D.M., Shiflett, S.L., Kaplan, J. (2002) Chediak-Higashi syndrome: a clinical and molecular view of a rare lysosomal storage disorder. *Curr Mol Med* 2, 469-77.
- 92. Menasche, G., Pastural, E., Feldmann, J., Certain, S., Ersoy, F., Dupuis, S., Wulffraat, N., Bianchi, D., Fischer, A., Le Deist, F., de Saint Basile, G. (2000) Mutations in RAB27A cause Griscelli syndrome associated with haemophagocytic syndrome. *Nat Genet* 25, 173-6.
- 93. Wilson, S.M., Yip, R., Swing, D.A., O'Sullivan, T.N., Zhang, Y., Novak, E.K., Swank, R.T., Russell, L.B., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A. (2000) A mutation in Rab27a causes the vesicle transport defects observed in ashen mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 7933-8.
- Li, W., Rusiniak, M.E., Chintala, S., Gautam, R., Novak, E.K., Swank, R.T. (2004) Murine Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome genes: regulators of lysosomerelated organelles. *Bioessays* 26, 616-28.
- Swank, R.T., Novak, E.K., McGarry, M.P., Zhang, Y., Li, W., Zhang, Q., Feng, L. (2000) Abnormal vesicular trafficking in mouse models of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome. *Pigment Cell Res* 13 Suppl 8, 59-67.
- 96. Dahms, N.M., Hancock, M.K. (2002) P-type lectins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1572**, 317-40.
- 97. Gu, F., Crump, C.M., Thomas, G. (2001) Trans-Golgi network sorting. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **58**, 1067-84.
- 98. Edeling, M.A., Smith, C., Owen, D. (2006) Life of a clathrin coat: insights from clathrin and AP structures. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **7**, 32-44.
- 99. Robinson, M.S., Bonifacino, J.S. (2001) Adaptor-related proteins. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **13**, 444-53.
- 100. Sorkin, A. (2004) Cargo recognition during clathrin-mediated endocytosis: a team effort. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **16**, 392-9.
- Griffiths, G.M., Isaaz, S. (1993) Granzymes A and B are targeted to the lytic granules of lymphocytes by the mannose-6-phosphate receptor. *J Cell Biol* 120, 885-96.
- 102. Bodo, I., Katsumi, A., Tuley, E.A., Eikenboom, J.C., Dong, Z., Sadler, J.E. (2001) Type 1 von Willebrand disease mutation Cys1149Arg causes intracellular retention and degradation of heterodimers: a possible general mechanism for dominant mutations of oligomeric proteins. *Blood* **98**, 2973-9.
- Kaufman, R.J., Wasley, L.C., Davies, M.V., Wise, R.J., Israel, D.I., Dorner, A.J. (1989) Effect of von Willebrand factor coexpression on the synthesis and secretion of factor VIII in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 9, 1233-42.
- Mayadas, T.N., Wagner, D.D. (1992) Vicinal cysteines in the prosequence play a role in von Willebrand factor multimer assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 89, 3531-5.
- 105. Meulien, P., Nishino, M., Mazurier, C., Dott, K., Pietu, G., Jorieux, S., Pavirani, A., Girma, J.P., Oufkir, D., Courtney, M., et al. (1992) Processing and characterization of recombinant von Willebrand factor expressed in different cell types using a vaccinia virus vector. *Thromb Haemost* 67, 154-60.
- 106. Verweij, C.L., Hart, M., Pannekoek, H. (1987) Expression of variant von Willebrand factor (vWF) cDNA in heterologous cells: requirement of the propolypeptide in vWF multimer formation. *Embo J* 6, 2885-90.
- 107. Wagner, D.D., Saffaripour, S., Bonfanti, R., Sadler, J.E., Cramer, E.M., Chapman, B., Mayadas, T.N. (1991) Induction of specific storage organelles by von Willebrand factor propolypeptide. *Cell* 64, 403-13.
- 108. van Mourik, J.A., Romani de Wit, T., Voorberg, J. (2002) Biogenesis and exocytosis of Weibel-Palade bodies. *Histochem Cell Biol* **117**, 113-22.
- 109. Vischer, U.M., Wagner, D.D. (1994) von Willebrand factor proteolytic processing and multimerization precede the formation of Weibel-Palade bodies. *Blood* **83**, 3536-44.
- Castaman, G., Federici, A.B., Rodeghiero, F., Mannucci, P.M. (2003) Von Willebrand's disease in the year 2003: towards the complete identification of gene defects for correct diagnosis and treatment. *Haematologica* 88, 94-108.
- Sporn, L.A., Marder, V.J., Wagner, D.D. (1986) Inducible secretion of large, biologically potent von Willebrand factor multimers. *Cell* 46, 185-90.
- Weibel ER, P.G. (1964) New cytoplasmic components in arterial endothelia. J Cell Biol 23, 101-112.
- 113. Nachman, R., Levine, R., Jaffe, E.A. (1977) Synthesis of factor VIII antigen by cultured guinea pig megakaryocytes. *J Clin Invest* **60**, 914-21.
- 114. Michaux, G., Cutler, D.F. (2004) How to roll an endothelial cigar: the biogenesis of Weibel-Palade bodies. *Traffic* **5**, 69-78.
- 115. Rosenberg, J.B., Haberichter, S.L., Jozwiak, M.A., Vokac, E.A., Kroner, P.A., Fahs, S.A., Kawai, Y., Montgomery, R.R. (2002) The role of the D1 domain of the von Willebrand factor propeptide in multimerization of VWF. *Blood* 100, 1699-706.
- Haberichter, S.L., Fahs, S.A., Montgomery, R.R. (2000) von Willebrand factor storage and multimerization: 2 independent intracellular processes. *Blood* 96, 1808-15.

- Haberichter, S.L., Jacobi, P., Montgomery, R.R. (2003) Critical independent regions in the VWF propeptide and mature VWF that enable normal VWF storage. *Blood* 101, 1384-91.
- 118. Seldin, D.C., Adelman, S., Austen, K.F., Stevens, R.L., Hein, A., Caulfield, J.P., Woodbury, R.G. (1985) Homology of the rat basophilic leukemia cell and the rat mucosal mast cell. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82, 3871-5.
- 119. Liu, L., Oren, A., Ganz, T. (1995) Murine 32D c13 cells--a transfectable model of phagocyte granule formation. *J Immunol Methods* 181, 253-8.
- Granger, B.L., Green, S.A., Gabel, C.A., Howe, C.L., Mellman, I., Helenius, A. (1990) Characterization and cloning of lgp110, a lysosomal membrane glycoprotein from mouse and rat cells. *J Biol Chem* 265, 12036-43.
- Ganz, T., Liu, L., Valore, E.V., Oren, A. (1993) Posttranslational processing and targeting of transgenic human defensin in murine granulocyte, macrophage, fibroblast, and pituitary adenoma cell lines. *Blood* 82, 641-50.
- Chen, J.W., Murphy, T.L., Willingham, M.C., Pastan, I., August, J.T. (1985) Identification of two lysosomal membrane glycoproteins. *J Cell Biol* 101, 85-95.
- Mane, S.M., Marzella, L., Bainton, D.F., Holt, V.K., Cha, Y., Hildreth, J.E., August, J.T. (1989) Purification and characterization of human lysosomal membrane glycoproteins. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 268, 360-78.
- 124. Gao, Y., Tapper, H., Calafat, J., Olsson, I., Hansson, M. (2006) Granule Targeting of Soluble Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) Receptor Expressed During Granulopoietic Maturation in Murine Bone Marrow Cells. *In press*.
- 125. Dannies, P.S. (1999) Protein hormone storage in secretory granules: mechanisms for concentration and sorting. *Endocr Rev* **20**, 3-21.
- Dannies, P.S. (2001) Concentrating hormones into secretory granules: layers of control. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 177, 87-93.
- 127. Arvan, P., Castle, D. (1998) Sorting and storage during secretory granule biogenesis: looking backward and looking forward. *Biochem J* **332**, 593-610.
- 128. Rollins, C.T., Rivera, V.M., Woolfson, D.N., Keenan, T., Hatada, M., Adams, S.E., Andrade, L.J., Yaeger, D., van Schravendijk, M.R., Holt, D.A., Gilman, M., Clackson, T. (2000) A ligand-reversible dimerization system for controlling protein-protein interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 7096-101.
- de Wit, T.R., van Mourik, J.A. (2001) Biosynthesis, processing and secretion of von Willebrand factor: biological implications. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* 14, 241-55.
- Holmberg, L., Karpman, D., Isaksson, C., Kristoffersson, A.C., Lethagen, S., Schneppenheim, R. (1998) Ins405AsnPro mutation in the von Willebrand factor propeptide in recessive type 2A (IIC) von Willebrand's disease. *Thromb Haemost* 79, 718-22.
- Arvan, P., Zhao, X., Ramos-Castaneda, J., Chang, A. (2002) Secretory pathway quality control operating in Golgi, plasmalemmal, and endosomal systems. *Traffic* 3, 771-80.
- 132. Bulow, E., Nauseef, W.M., Goedken, M., McCormick, S., Calafat, J., Gullberg, U., Olsson, I. (2002) Sorting for storage in myeloid cells of nonmyeloid proteins and chimeras with the propeptide of myeloperoxidase precursor. *J Leukoc Biol* **71**, 279-88.
- 133. Bulow, E., Gullberg, U., Olsson, I. (2000) Structural requirements for intracellular processing and sorting of bactericidal/permeability-increasing

protein (BPI): comparison with lipopolysaccharide-binding protein. *J Leukoc Biol* **68**, 669-78.

- Tapper, H., Kallquist, L., Johnsson, E., Persson, A.-M., Hansson, M., Olsson, I. (2006) Neutrophil elastase sorting involves plasma membrane trafficking requiring the C-terminal propeptide. *Submitted for publication*.
- 135. Benson, K.F., Li, F.Q., Person, R.E., Albani, D., Duan, Z., Wechsler, J., Meade-White, K., Williams, K., Acland, G.M., Niemeyer, G., Lothrop, C.D., Horwitz, M. (2003) Mutations associated with neutropenia in dogs and humans disrupt intracellular transport of neutrophil elastase. *Nat Genet* 35, 90-6.
- 136. Fukuda, M. (1991) Lysosomal membrane glycoproteins. Structure, biosynthesis, and intracellular trafficking. *J Biol Chem* **266**, 21327-30.
- 137. Olsson, I. (1969) The intracellular transport of glycosaminoglycans (mucopolysaccharides) in human leukocytes. *Exp Cell Res* **54**, 318-25.
- Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M.J., Heijnen, H.F., Stoorvogel, W., Geuze, H.J. (2000) Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. *J Cell Sci* 113 Pt 19, 3365-74.
- 139. Sporn, L.A., Marder, V.J., Wagner, D.D. (1986) Inducible secretion of large, biologically potent von Willebrand factor multimers. *Cell* **46**, 185-90.